FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 4/8/2019 8:00 AM

97045-9

Supreme Court No. (to be set) Court of Appeals No. 34670-6-III IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

> STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, vs. Josephine Johnson

> > Appellant/Petitioner

Grant County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00826-3 The Honorable Judge John M. Antosz

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Josephine Johnson suffers from dementia and other cognitive im-

pairments. Ex. 25, p. 1, 3. When she was seventy-seven, she shot her abu-

sive husband, Donald Bitterman. RP (6/17/16)¹ 54; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15),

p. 6.² Before the shooting, she had repeatedly contacted the Grant County

Sheriff's Department to report Bitterman's assaults and his threats to kill

her and her sons. RP (6/16/16) 18, 182; RP (6/17/16) 17-18; CP 58, 61,

¹ Two volumes of transcript were filed from hearings occurring on June 17, 2016. The single volume prepared by Court Reporter Brittingham will be cited including the name.

 $^{^2}$ Exhibit 32 is an audio recording of Ms. Johnson's statement to police. It was admitted at trial. RP (6/17/16) 114-116. A transcript of the recording was admitted at a pretrial hearing, but not offered at trial. Ex. 2 (2/4/15). Citations to the transcript are provided here to facilitate review of Ex. 32, the recording itself.

63. She had also described the abuse to her doctor. Ex. 24, p. 7. When she sought protection orders, outlining her fear that Bitterman would kill her, her petitions were denied. RP (6/15/16) 12; RP (6/16/16) 169-170, 182; RP (6/17/16) 41; CP 67-92; Ex. 28, 30.

Just before the day of the shooting, Bitterman threatened to "blow [her] brains out."³ RP (6/17/16) 48. Ms. Johnson told Bitterman she planned to leave him, but he told her she couldn't. RP (6/17/16) 49; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), pp. 11-12. On December 23, 2014, Ms. Johnson picked up one of Bitterman's handguns and repeated that she was leaving him. CP 4; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), pp. 3-4, 7. Once again, he told her she couldn't leave.⁴ Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 7.

When Ms. Johnson told her husband that he couldn't stop her from leaving, he came at her. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 7. She feared he might grab her by the neck or take the gun and shoot her. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 8, 10. She was afraid for her life. RP (2/11/15) 27.

She believed the gun was "on safe" as she backed away, but she aimed at his chest "where it would do the most good" if she shot him. Ex.

 $^{^3}$ This followed other threats he'd made over the preceding days. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 24.

⁴ The Court of Appeals mischaracterized this evidence, suggesting that he "would not let her take her belongings" with her. Opinion, p. 2.

32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 5, 6, 9, 23; RP (2/11/15) 27; RP (6/17/16) 55. Bitterman grabbed at the gun, and it discharged accidentally. RP (6/17/16) 54. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 8.

The State charged Ms. Johnson with first-degree assault. CP 4. Her defense was self-defense, diminished capacity, and "battered spouse syndrome." CP 302. Ms. Johnson's dementia interfered with her memory of the event. RP (6/17/16) 89, 120; RP (8/19/16) 113-114, 119-120; Ex. 24, p. 15; Ex. 25, p. 3, 4. When she spoke with the police shortly after the shooting, she said she armed herself and notified Bitterman she planned to leave him. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), pp. 3-4, 7. She told police that she feared Bitterman might grab her by the neck or take the gun and shoot her. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 8, 10. She said the gun discharged accidentally when he came at her and tried to grab it. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 7, 8.

In her trial testimony, she said she'd found the gun and picked it up to hide it.⁵ RP (6/17/16) 52-55. She told jurors that it discharged accidentally when Bitterman tried to grab it from her.⁶ RP (6/17/16) 54-55. Ms. Johnson's statement to police was introduced in its entirety, without

⁵ She had made a similar statement during her interview with Dr. Cedar O'Donnell, a forensic psychologist who had evaluated Ms. Johnson at the state's behest. Ex. 25, pp. 14-15.

⁶ Initially, defense counsel responded to this shift by changing the defense from self-defense to pure accident. RP (6/15/16) 40; CP 25-26, 28-32. However, when the State introduced Ms. Johnson's entire police statement, defense counsel asked the court to instruct on self-defense. CP 138-158; RP (6/17/16) 114-116; RP (6/20/16) 6, 15-20, 26-29, 32; Ex. 32.

limitation. RP (6/17/16) 114-116; Ex. 32. It provided the basis for her selfdefense claim. CP 138-158; RP (6/20/16) 6, 15-20, 26-29, 32; Ex. 32.

The trial court refused to instruct on self-defense. CP 138-158; RP (6/20/16) 6, 15-20, 26-29, 32. This stemmed from the inconsistency between Ms. Johnson's statement to police and her trial testimony.⁷ RP (6/20/17) 18-19.

The court denied the defense offer of expert testimony on battered spouse syndrome. CP 138-158; RP (6/20/16) 6. Dr. Gerlock found that the syndrome applied to Ms. Johnson. Ex. 24, p. 10. Had she been allowed to testify, Dr. Gerlock would have explained why Ms. Johnson stayed with Bitterman despite the abuse. She would also have helped jurors understand Ms. Johnson's perceptions of the threat Bitterman posed on the day of the shooting. Ex. 24.

In addition, the court rejected Ms. Johnson's attempt to introduce expert testimony showing that her "cognitive difficulties could have impaired [her] ability to form intent." RP (6/17/16) 92. The court found this opinion, provided by Dr. O'Donnell, insufficient to support a diminished capacity defense.⁸ RP (6/17/16) 92-98.

⁷ The trial judge believed the evidence "arguably" supported self-defense when facts from her police statement were considered along with her trial testimony. RP (6/20/17) 18-19.

⁸ In an offer of proof, defense counsel told the court that he had spoken with Dr. O'Donnell and expected him to testify that Ms. Johnson's condition "could have" impaired her ability to

The court also refused to allow expert testimony explaining how Ms. Johnson's dementia impacted her memory of the shooting. RP (6/17/16) 25-26, 87-90, 120; RP (6/17/16 Brittingham) 29; Ex. 25, p. 3, 4, 16. The court did not explain this ruling.⁹ RP (6/17/16) 120; RP (6/17/16 Brittingham) 29.

Ms. Johnson was convicted of first-degree assault and sentenced to 153 months in prison. CP 255, 257. She appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed her conviction. Opinion, pp. 1, 12.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MS. JOHNSON'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE BY EXCLUDING CRITICAL EVIDENCE.

Ms. Johnson's self-defense claim and her diminished capacity defense rested on the expert opinions of Dr. Gerlock and Dr. O'Donnell. Defense counsel also sought to introduce Dr. O'Donnell's opinion that Ms. Johnson's dementia may have impacted her memory of the shooting. By excluding this critical evidence, the trial court violated Ms. Johnson's constitutional right to present a defense.

An accused person has a constitutional right to introduce relevant

form intent. RP (6/17/16) 92-98; Ex. 92, 95. The written report, prepared prior to defense counsel's interview, did not support diminished capacity. *See* Ex. 25.

⁹ Initially, counsel only planned to have Dr. O'Donnell testify about Ms. Johnson's memory issue if diminished capacity evidence were allowed. RP (6/17/16) 87-88. After Ms. Johnson's statement to police was introduced, he asked the court to admit the testimony even if Dr. O'Donnell was not also permitted to discuss diminished capacity. RP (6/17/16) 120.

admissible evidence.¹⁰ *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). Even minimally relevant evidence must be admitted.¹¹ *Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 669, 230 P.3d 583 (2010). Here, the expert testimony excluded by the trial court was at least minimally relevant.

Expert testimony is admissible if it will help the jury understand the evidence or determine a fact at issue. ER 702; *Philippides v. Bernard*, 151 Wn.2d 376, 393, 88 P.3d 939 (2004). "Helpfulness" is construed broadly, and the rule favors admission in doubtful cases. *Id; Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 148, 34 P.3d 835 (2001)).

A. Expert testimony on battered spouse syndrome was relevant to Ms. Johnson's self-defense claim and should have been admitted.

Ms. Johnson sought to introduce expert testimony regarding battered spouse syndrome. RP (6/20/16) 29-43. The proffered evidence went directly to Ms. Johnson's self-defense claim.¹² *See State v. Janes*, 121 Wn.2d 220, 239, 850 P.2d 495 (1993). *see also State v. Allery*, 101 Wn.2d 591, 597, 682 P.2d 312, 315 (1984); *State v. Williams*, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997)

¹⁰ This right stems from the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. *See Greene v. Lambert*, 288 F.3d 1081, 1090 (9th Cir. 2002).

¹¹ Evidence is relevant "if it has any tendency to make the existence of any consequential fact more probable or less probable." *Washington v. Farnsworth*, 185 Wn.2d 768, 782–83, 374 P.3d 1152 (2016) (citing ER 401).

¹² Indeed, without the excluded evidence, the Court of Appeals found the evidence insufficient to support instructions on self-defense. Opinion, p. 6.

Ms. Johnson suffered near constant abuse, including death threats and physical assaults. RP (6/15/16) 35; RP (6/16/16) 174, 177, 179, 182-183, 195, 197, 200-202; RP (6/17/16) 40-41, 73-75, 80-81; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 3, 4, 18; Ex. 24 pp. 7-8. Dr. Gerlock's testimony was critical to explain why Ms. Johnson remained in a relationship that was "both psychologically and physically dangerous." *Allery*, 101 Wn.2d at 596. In addition, Dr. Gerlock would have explained that Ms. Johnson's age, cognitive impairments, and physical difficulties made it even harder for her to escape this abusive relationship or otherwise "safely navigate her circumstances."¹³ Ex. 24, p. 16.

Dr. Gerlock's testimony would also have allowed the jury to "place[] itself in the defendant's position" so it could "properly assess the reasonableness of [her] perceptions of imminence and danger." *Janes*, 121 Wn.2d at 239; *see also Allery*, 101 Wn.2d at 597.

Dr. Gerlock would have told jurors that Bitterman used "a system of intentional behaviors... to control [his] partner." Ex. 24, p. 12. These included physical abuse, threats to kill Ms. Johnson, and other abusive and

¹³ Even without Ms. Johnson's impairments, the legal system's failure to adequately respond to domestic violence can contribute to learned helplessness, "a condition in which the woman is psychologically locked into her situation." *Allery*, 101 Wn.2d at 596–97. Here, Ms. Johnson sought help from law enforcement, her doctor, and the judicial system. RP (6/15/16) 12; RP (6/16/16) 18, 169-170, 182; RP (6/17/16) 17-18, 41; CP 58, 61, 63, 67-92; Ex. 24, p. 7; Ex. 28; Ex. 30.

coercive behaviors such as name-calling, humiliation, isolation, and property destruction. Ex. 24, p. 1-10, 12-14.

Finally, Dr. Gerlock would have explained why jurors should focus on the months preceding the shooting, how the legal system's failure to respond affects battered women such as Ms. Johnson, and why a battered woman might perceive threats and respond with violence or aggression, even though an outside observer would see no need for force. Ex. 24, p. 1, 10-11, 14, 15.

The trial judge should have allowed Ms. Johnson to introduce the testimony in support of her self-defense claim.¹⁴ As outlined elsewhere, at least "some evidence" in the record supported the defense. *See State v. Werner*, 170 Wn.2d 333, 337, 241 P.3d 410 (2010). Employing circular logic, the Court of Appeals concluded that Dr. Gerlock's testimony was "irrelevant" because self-defense was "not supported by the evidence." Opinion, p. 9. According to the court, no evidence suggested that Ms. Johnson had reason to fear imminent harm. *See* Opinion, p. 6.

The Court of Appeals reached this conclusion because "Ms. Johnson never *testified* that she... [feared] imminent harm." Opinion, p. 6 (emphasis added). But a defendant may rely on "facts inconsistent with her

¹⁴ In addition, the evidence was relevant to explain Ms. Johnson's testimony that she felt it necessary to pick up and hide Bitterman's gun despite her aversion to (and lack of experience with) firearms. CP 51-55; RP (6/15/16) 19-20.

own testimony." *State v. Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d 836, 848, 374 P.3d 1185 (2016). Ms. Johnson told police that she was afraid for her life, and that she feared Bitterman might "[g]rab [her] around the neck" or take the gun and use it against her. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 8, 10. These statements were introduced as substantive evidence; they provided support for her self-defense claim. *See* Ex. 32; RP (6/17/16) 114-116.

But Dr. Gerlock's testimony was relevant because it would have helped establish the defense. Dr. Gerlock would have affirmed that the history of abuse gave Ms. Johnson reason "to fear imminent harm," and to believe "that her husband was about to harm her." *See* Opinion, p. 6.

An outside observer might conclude that Bitterman posed no threat, but Ms. Johnson was afraid for her life, and believed Bitterman might "[g]rab [her] around the neck" or take the gun and use it against her. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 8, 10. Dr. Gerlock would have explained the basis for these fears.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Allery*. The *Allery* court pointed out that expert testimony helps jurors understand "the woman's perceptions and behavior at the time of the [shooting] and is central to her claim of self-defense." *Id.*, at 597. The Court of Appeals failed to recognize this.

The jury should have received "a professional explanation of the

battering syndrome and its effects." *Allery*, 101 Wn.2d at 597. This would have allowed Ms. Johnson "[t]o effectively present the situation" as she perceived it, and to convey "the reasonableness of her fear." *Id*.

The error infringed Ms. Johnson's right to present a defense. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720; see also Greene, 288 F.3d 1081 at 1092. Her conviction must be reversed, and the case remanded for a new trial. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720.

B. Expert testimony on diminished capacity was relevant to Ms. Johnson's diminished capacity claim and should have been admitted.
Diminished capacity negates the mental state required for conviction. *State v. Marchi*, 158 Wn. App. 823, 835, 243 P.3d 556 (2010). The defense must be supported by expert testimony. *Id*.

The expert need only testify that a mental disorder "could have" impaired the defendant's ability to form intent. *State v. Mitchell*, 102 Wn. App. 21, 27, 997 P.2d 373 (2000), *as amended on reconsideration* (Apr. 17, 2000). The expert need not opine "that the mental disorder actually did produce the asserted impairment." *Id*.

Here, the proffered testimony met this standard. According to the offer of proof, Dr. O'Donnell would have testified "that the cognitive difficulties could have impaired [Ms. Johnson's] ability to form intent," and that "it's possible that [her condition] could have impaired her ability to form the intent, but not necessarily." RP (6/17/16) 92, 95. This satisfied

the requirements outlined in Mitchell.

The Court of Appeals did not mention *Mitchell. See* Opinion, pp. 7-10. Instead, the court apparently believed that expert testimony must show actual "inability" to form the required mental state.¹⁵ Opinion, p. 8.

The Mitchell court rejected this rigid approach. Id., at 27; see also

State v. Crute, No. 50366-2-II, Slip Op. at *3 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 20,

2019) (unpublished). An expert need only opine that a mental impairment

"could have" impaired the defendant's capacity to form intent. Mitchell,

102 Wn. App. at 27.

By excluding Dr. O'Donnell's testimony, the trial court barred Ms.

Johnson from raising her diminished capacity claim.¹⁶ This violated her

right to present a defense. Mitchell, 102 Wn. App. at 27; Jones, 168

Wn.2d at 720.

C. Expert testimony on Ms. Johnson's dementia should have been admitted because it was relevant to explain her inconsistent memories of the event.

Any fact bearing on the credibility of a witness is relevant. *State v*.

¹⁵ In addition, the Court of Appeals apparently relied solely on Dr. O'Donnell's written evaluation. Opinion, pp. 8-9. But counsel made an offer of proof following his own conversations with Dr. O'Donnell. RP (6/17/16) 96. According to counsel, Dr. O'Donnell would have testified that Ms. Johnson's condition "could have impaired her ability to form intent." RP (6/17/16) 92, 96.

¹⁶ Because the court excluded the evidence, Ms. Johnson did not propose an instruction on diminished capacity. Given the court's refusal to allow the evidence, her failure to propose an unsupported instruction should not be taken as a waiver. *See* Opinion, p. 8. Counsel argued in favor of admitting the evidence and asserted a diminished capacity defense. RP (6/17/16) 92-96. The error is preserved.

Mollet, 181 Wn. App. 701, 713, 326 P.3d 851, *review denied*, 339 P.3d 635 (2014). Here, the defense sought to introduce expert testimony explaining how dementia and other cognitive impairments created memory problems and confusion for Ms. Johnson. RP (6/17/16) 89, 120; RP (8/19/16) 113-114, 119-120.

According to Dr. O'Donnell, Ms. Johnson's dementia made her "unable to provide a coherent or consistent history." Ex. 25, p. 4. Dr. O'Donnell believed that her condition and her medication may have contributed to the "significant changes in Ms. Johnson's report of the incident." Ex. 25, p. 16. Without this testimony, these discrepancies likely made Ms. Johnson seem dishonest to jurors. Ex. 25, pp. 3, 4, 16.

Ms. Johnson gave two very different accounts of the shooting. She told police she intentionally armed herself when she told Bitterman she planned to leave him. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15). At trial, by contrast, she told jurors she found the gun sitting on the bed and picked it up intending to hide it, but that Bitterman surprised her while she was looking for a hiding place. RP (6/17/16) 52-54.

Dr. O'Donnell's testimony was at least minimally relevant to explain these discrepancies. ER 401; *Mollet*, 181 Wn. App. at 713. It would have been "helpful" to the jury and should have been admitted. ER 401; ER 702; *Philippides*, 151 Wn.2d at 393.

The Court of Appeals did not address Ms. Johnson's argument regarding this evidence. Opinion, pp. 1-12. Jurors should have heard why Ms. Johnson's account of the offense varied so dramatically. By excluding the evidence, the trial court violated her constitutional right to present a defense. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720.

D. The Supreme Court should accept review because the lower court's opinion conflicts with this court's decision in *Allery* and the Court of Appeals' decisions in *Mitchell* and *Mollet*. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

The Supreme Court will accept review if a lower court decision

conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or with a published deci-

sion of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Here, the lower

court's decision conflicts with Allery, Mitchell, and Mollet. The Supreme

Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals. RAP

13.4(b)(1) and (2). The case must be remanded with instructions to admit

the excluded testimony.

II. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MS. JOHNSON'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE BY REFUSING TO INSTRUCT ON SELF-DEFENSE.

A. The record included "some evidence" of self-defense.

Where there is "some evidence" of self-defense,¹⁷ jurors must be

¹⁷ A claim of self-defense requires proof that the defendant subjectively feared that she was in imminent danger, that this belief was objectively reasonable given all the circumstances, and that the force used was reasonably necessary. *Werner*, 170 Wn.2d at 337. Where the defendant has been abused, the jury must consider self-defense "from the defendant's perspective in light of all that she knew and had experienced with [her abuser]." *Allery*, 101 Wn.2d at 595.

instructed on it. *Werner*, 170 Wn.2d at 337. An accused person is constitutionally entitled to such instructions.¹⁸ *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 848.

Evidence supporting the defense "may come from 'whatever source." *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 848 (citation omitted). The evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the defendant. *Id.*, at 848-49. The defendant may rely on "facts inconsistent with her own testimony." *Id.*, at 849-850. This may include evidence introduced by the State, including "portions" of the defendant's prior statements. *Id.*, at 849-851.

Here, the jury's role was to determine if Ms. Johnson "acted reasonably, given [her] experience of abuse." *Janes*, 121 Wn.2d at 239. There is at least "some evidence" showing that she did. *Werner*, 170 Wn.2d at 337. Bitterman repeatedly threatened to shoot Ms. Johnson and her sons. RP (6/17/16) 41, 75, 80; Ex. 32; Ex. 25, p. 3, 4. He was often armed with a loaded handgun and had once considered shooting her while she worked in the kitchen. RP (6/17/16) 78-79; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 4, 23. Bitterman sometimes sat with his gun in an armchair, leading Ms. Johnson to fear that he'd come to her bedroom to shoot her.¹⁹ RP (6/17/16) 47, 48; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 16, 23. He slapped her on the head, pushed her,

¹⁸ This is so even if the defendant presents inconsistent defenses. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 460.

 $^{^{19}}$ At times, Bitterman prowled the house at night with his gun. RP (6/16/16) 179, 197; Ex. 24 p. 8.

and poked her in the chest while swearing and calling her names.²⁰ RP (6/17/16) 40, 73, 81; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 18.

Ms. Johnson sought help from law enforcement,²¹ her doctor, and the court system. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 2, 4, 17. She was afraid her husband would shoot her if he found out she'd requested a protection order. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 17-18.

Bitterman threatened her on the day before the incident, and the day before that, and the prior weekend. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 24. He said he'd "blow [her] brains out." RP (6/17/16) 48. Hoping to leave him, she found an apartment. RP (6/17/16) 47. The day before the alleged offense, she told him she intended to leave him. RP (6/17/16) 49; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), pp. 11-12. He told her she couldn't. RP (6/17/16) 49.

This history provides the "contextual circumstances" that must be considered in assessing the need for instructions on self-defense. *State v. George*, 161 Wn. App. 86, 99, 249 P.3d 202 (2011). Taken in a light most favorable to Ms. Johnson, the facts establish a danger that was "'hanging threateningly over [her] head; menacingly near" in the period leading up to the incident. *Id.* (quoting *Janes*, 121 Wash.2d at 241) (citation omitted).

 $^{^{20}}$ Ms. Johnnson's son observed at least three incidents of "hostile physical contact." RP (6/17/16) 81.

 $^{^{21}}$ Police referred her to a domestic violence agency, but Bitterman stopped her from calling. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 24.

On the day of the shooting, Ms. Johnson armed herself and went to tell Bitterman she was going to leave.²² Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), pp. 3-4, 7. He told her she couldn't leave or call anyone. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 7.

She told police that he came at her and that she was afraid he might "[g]rab me around the neck." Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 8. She also believed he might take the gun and use it against her. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 10. She told the police that she was afraid for her life. RP (2/11/15) 27. Although she didn't intend to shoot him and didn't want to hurt him, she pointed the gun at his chest "where it would do the most good." Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 5, 6, 9, 23; RP (6/17/16) 55.

As she backed away from him, Bitterman tried to get the gun from her. RP (6/17/16) 54. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 8. The gun went off as he tried grab it.²³ RP (6/17/16) 54; Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6.

The "contextual circumstances"²⁴ and Ms. Johnson's statement to police provide at least "some evidence" of self-defense. *Werner*, 170 Wn.2d at 337. She reasonably feared for her safety, armed herself before telling Bitterman of her plan to leave him, and aimed the gun at his chest

²² Ms. Johnson suffered dementia and gave a different account at trial. *See* RP (6/17/16) 52-53, 89, 120, RP (8/19/16) 113-114, 119-120; Ex. 25, pp. 3, 4, 16. However, the Supreme Court has made clear that a defendant is entitled to rely on evidence inconsistent with her trial testimony. *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 849.

²³ Self-defense and accident "are not mutually exclusive." Werner, 170 Wn.2d at 337. Even if they were, Ms. Johnson was entitled to assert both. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 460.

²⁴ *George*, 161 Wn. App. at 99.

when he came at her. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), p. 6, 8. She told police that she thought he might grab her by the neck or take the gun and shoot her, and that she feared for her life. Ex. 32; Ex. 2 (2/4/15), pp. 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 23; RP (2/11/15) 27; RP (6/17/16) 54-55.

Although Ms. Johnson's dementia and shifting memories produced conflicting accounts of the event, the evidence should have been assessed in a light most favorable to her. *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 849. When viewed in this light, at least "some evidence" supported a self-defense claim. *Werner*, 170 Wn.2d at 337. This is so even if the self-defense theory was inconsistent with her trial testimony. *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 849-850; *see also State v. Callahan*, 87 Wn. App. 925, 931-934, 943 P.2d 676 (1997).

Ms. Johnson was constitutionally entitled to instructions on her theory of the case. *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 848. The trial court violated her right to present a defense by refusing to let the jury consider her self-defense claim. *Id*.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the Supreme Court's opinion in *Fisher*.

The record is replete with evidence showing that Ms. Johnson acted in self-defense. Instead of acknowledging this evidence, the Court of Appeals noted that "Ms. Johnson never *testified* that she believed she needed to point a gun at, let alone shoot, her husband due to fear of imminent harm." Opinion, p. 6 (emphasis added). This approach conflicts with *Fisher*. Under *Fisher*, evidence of self-defense "may come from 'whatever source." *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 848 (citation omitted). Ms. Johnson was entitled to rely on "facts inconsistent with her own testimony." *Id.*, at 849-850.

The Supreme Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and direct the trial court to instruct on self-defense should the case be retried. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED THE WRONG STANDARD WHEN RE-VIEWING MS. JOHNSON'S CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS.

A. The Supreme Court should clarify the standard for reviewing a trial court's refusal to instruct on the defense theory.

Constitutional issues are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Armstrong*,

188 Wn.2d 333, 339, 394 P.3d 373 (2017). The sufficiency of evidence to

support self-defense instructions is an issue of law, reviewed de novo.

Fisher, 185 Wn.2d at 849.

Under *Fisher*, review is *de novo* where "the basis for the trial court's refusal to give [a] requested jury instruction appears to be lack of evidence." *Id.* The Court of Appeals did not reference *Fisher* and did not apply this standard. Opinion, p. 6.

Fisher's de novo standard supersedes precedent erroneously suggesting that "[a] trial court's refusal to give instructions to a jury, if based on a factual dispute, is reviewable only for abuse of discretion." *State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771–72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998). This oft-cited language from *Walker*²⁵ contradicts the well-established prohibition against judicial factfinding. There can be no "factual dispute" regarding the need for instruction, because the evidence must be taken in a light most favorable to the instruction's proponent. *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 849. By law, any "factual dispute" is resolved in favor of the party proposing the instruction.²⁶ *Id.*; *see also State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 688, 358 P.3d 359 (2015); *State v. Henderson*, 182 Wn.2d 734, 736, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015).

The Supreme Court should clarify that review is *de novo* when a refusal to instruct on the defense theory rests on perceived insufficiency of the evidence supporting that theory. This presents a significant issue of constitutional law of substantial public interest; furthermore, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Fisher*. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

B. The Supreme Court should accept review and clarify the proper standard applicable to discretionary rulings that infringe constitutional rights.

Appellate courts review constitutional issues *de novo*. *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 339. The Supreme Court has applied this standard to discretionary decisions that would otherwise be reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 719; *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 281, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). However, the Supreme Court has not applied this rule consistently. For example, one month prior to its decision in *Jones*, the

²⁵ Here, the Court of Appeals relied on precedent derived from *Walker*. Opinion, p. 6 (citing *State v. Read*, 147 Wn.2d 238, 243, 53 P.3d 26 (2002)).

²⁶ When deciding if an instruction is supported by the record, a judge may not weigh or evaluate evidence. *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 460-61, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

court used an abuse-of-discretion standard to review a nearly identical issue. *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 362-63, 229 P.3d 669 (2010).

The court has not found that the *Jones/Iniguez* standard is incorrect, harmful, or so problematic that it requires reversal. *See Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 340 n. 2. The Supreme Court should accept review and determine the appropriate standard for reviewing discretionary decisions that violate an accused person's constitutional rights.

The lower court applied an abuse-of-discretion standard to Ms. Johnson's claim that she was denied her right to present a defense. Opinion, p. 7-9. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Jones* and *Iniguez*. In addition, this case raises significant issues of constitutional law that are of substantial public interest. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Supreme Court should accept review, reverse Ms. Johnson's conviction, and remand the case for retrial. Respectfully submitted April 5, 2019.

BACKLUND AND MISTRY

Ni R. Ballunk

Jodi R. Backlund, WSBA No. 22917 Attorney for the Appellant

Clanck R. Distry

Manek R. Mistry, WSBA No. 22922 Attorney for the Appellant