FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/8/2019 9:39 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97045-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOSEPHINE ELLEN JOHNSON,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

GARTH DANO PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

Kevin J. McCrae – WSBA #43087 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

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

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. There was no evidence of subjective, imminent fear of harm to Ms. Johnson, thus the court properly rejected the self-defense claim.

Ms. Johnson is correct that evidence of battered spouse syndrome would be relevant to explain the reasonableness of her fear. The problem with her self-defense theory is she never claimed she had imminent fear of Mr. Bitterman, reasonable or not. She introduced plenty of evidence that, if believed, had she actually been in fear, a jury could have found that fear reasonable. She is simply lacking that first, subjective step.

As the Court of Appeals held, citing *State v. Callahan*, 87 Wn. App. 925, 929, 943 P.2d 676 (1997), a subjective, imminent fear is necessary to claim self-defense. Because there was no evidence of subjective, imminent fear the evidence that such a fear might have been objectively reasonable is irrelevant.

In any event failure to give a self-defense instruction was harmless for the reasons discussed in the State's Court of Appeals brief.

¹ The Court found at sentencing Ms. Johnson was not credible about these incidents.

2. There needs to be more than a diagnosis of mental illness to get to diminished capacity.

Ms. Johnson overstates the holding in *State v. Mitchell*, 102 Wn. App. 21, 27, 997 P.2d 373 (2000). In *Mitchell* the defendant had to know the person he was assaulting was a police officer, and he had just done an irrational and odd behavior by punching a child for no reason. Dr. Muscatel could say that it was possible *Mitchell* had diminished capacity based on paranoid schizophrenia. Notably there was absolutely no explanation for the defendant's actions.

Here Dr. O'Donnell opinioned that Ms. Johnson's reported actions were consistent with intentional action. While dementia in some scenarios could remove the ability for an intentional act, there was simply no expert opinion that that could have occurred here. The opposite is true, Dr. O'Donnell was of the opinion there was an intentional act, and no contradictory expert testimony. "It is not enough that ... a defendant may be diagnosed as suffering from a particular mental disorder. The diagnosis must, under the facts of the case, be capable of forensic application in order to help the trier of fact assess the defendant's mental state at the time of the crime." *State v. Atsbeha*, 142 Wn.2d 904, 918, 16 P.3d 626, 633 (2001). There was no expert offering the forensic application. There

simply is no evidence of diminished capacity. There is no conflict of cases, and no overriding issue for the Supreme Court to review.

3. The court properly excluded evidence of dementia as unhelpful to the jury.

In addition to the issues raised by the Court of Appeals decision,
Ms. Johnson does not explain how evidence of dementia helps or hurts her
credibility. She gave conflicting statements. Without expert testimony
relating to when and how the dementia affected her when she made her
original statement and her later one, the fact that she had some form of
dementia was not helpful. In simple terms the jury was not in a position to
evaluate whether her dementia affected her first statement, her second or
both, and to what degree. It simply would not have helped the jury to
decide any relevant fact.

4. The decision below did not conflict with *State v. Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d 836, 374 P.3d 1185 (2016).

There is no doubt the evidence to support a self-defense claim can come from the evidence produced by either side. The Court of Appeals did not hold otherwise. Instead it held, correctly, that there was no evidence from either party of the subjective element of self-defense. The decision below does not conflict with *Fisher*.

5. The factual conclusions that touch upon constitutional issues are properly reviewed for abuse of discretion.

"Criminal law is so largely constitutionalized that most claimed errors can be phrased in constitutional terms." *State v. Lynn*, 67 Wn. App. 339, 342, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). The standards of review, de novo, clear error, and abuse of discretion, are more about what court is the most competent to decide the issue, not whether something is constitutionally based or statutory. Indeed the categories do not lend themselves to easy definition. Self-defense is statutorily based, RCW 9A.16, yet the right to present a defense is constitutional. There are many areas of the law, some of which are described in the State's Court of Appeals brief, that touch upon constitutional rights, yet are reviewed for abuse of discretion or clear error. There is no conflict with other cases.

E. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision followed well established legal principles. There are no conflicting cases or significant legal issues for the Court to review. Even if there were, the record in this case is confused

//

 $/\!/$

and unclear because of the shifting defense strategies, making it a poor vehicle to resolve any issues. Review should be denied.